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By the Chief, Enforcement Bureau:

I. Introduction

1. In this Notice of Apparent Liability for Forfeiture, we find that Stone/Collins Communications, Inc. (“Stone/Collins”), licensee of WEPG(AM), South Pittsburg, Tennessee, has apparently violated Section 310(d) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (“Act”), 47 U.S.C. § 310(d), and Section 73.3540(a) of the Commission's rules, 47 C.F.R. § 73.3540(a), by transferring control of the WEPG(AM) license without obtaining prior Commission approval.  We conclude that Stone/Collins is apparently liable for a forfeiture in the amount of three thousand dollars ($3,000).

II. Background

2. On May 19, 2000, an application was filed to assign the license for WEPG(AM) from Stone/Collins to Double R Communications, L.L.C. (File No. BAL-20000519AAZ).  In that application, the parties disclosed the existence of several prior transfers of stock in Stone/Collins.  On July 7, 1997, when the Mass Media Bureau granted an application for authority to assign the WEPG(AM) license to Stone/Collins, the company had three stockholders: (1) Robert E. Collins, Jr., who owned 41% of the stock and controlled 59% of the votes, (2) Evan Stone, who owned 41% of the stock and controlled 41% of the votes, and (3) John T. Farrell, who owned 18% of the stock but did not have any voting rights.  Shortly after Stone/Collins acquired WEPG(AM), Mr. Farrell sold half of his stock to Mr. Collins and the other half of his stock to Mr. Stone.  In August 1998, Mr. Stone sold his stock interest to Jerry W. Rice.  Stone/Collins claims that Mr. Collins contacted Commission staff and was told that no application was required.  After that transaction, Mr. Collins continued to hold 59% of the votes and 50% of the stock in Stone/Collins.

3. In May 1999, Mr. Collins sold his stock to Charles Rodgers. At that time, none of the principals were represented by FCC counsel.  Mr. Collins purportedly told Messrs. Rice and Rodgers that the sale of his stock, like the sale of Mr. Stone’s stock, would not require the Commission’s consent.  At some point in 2000, Mr. Rice’s personal attorney suggested that Messrs. Rice and Rodgers reorganize Stone/Collins into a limited liability company.  That attorney suggested that they check with counsel with knowledge of the Commission’s rules to make sure no application was required.  After a series of telephone calls, Mr. Rice spoke to a Nashville corporate lawyer who represents a television broadcaster.  That attorney informed Mr. Rice that an application should have been filed seeking approval of the transfer of Mr. Collins’ stock.  Mr. Rice then retained counsel knowledgeable about the Commission’s rules and filed the application noted above. That application remains pending.

4. WEPG(AM) operates with 5.0 kW during the day and 100 watts during the night. It is located in the Chattanooga radio market, which is the 104th largest radio market.  Stone/Collins represents that for the past several years, the station has earned between $125,000 and $150,000 annually in advertising revenue.

III. Discussion

5. Section 310(d) of the Act provides in pertinent part: 

No . . . station license, or any rights thereunder, shall be transferred, assigned, or disposed of in any manner, voluntarily or involuntarily, directly or indirectly, or by transfer of control of any corporation holding such permit license, to any person except upon application to the Commission and upon finding by the Commission that the public interest, convenience, and necessity will be served thereby.

Similarly, Section 73.3540(a) of the Commission’s rules, 47 C.F.R. § 73.3540(a), provides, “Prior consent of the FCC must be obtained for a voluntary assignment or transfer of control.”

6. In this case, Stone/Collins appears to have engaged in an unauthorized substantial transfer of control when Mr. Collins sold his stock to Mr. Rodgers.  At that point in time, all of the stock and voting rights in Stone/Collins were held by individuals whose qualifications had not been passed on by the Commission.  While the parties did not seek Commission approval for the Collins transfer because they relied on advice allegedly given by Commission staff about the Stone transfer, any such reliance was not reasonable because the two transactions were clearly different.  While Mr. Stone only controlled 41% of the votes in Stone/Collins, Mr. Collins had voting control of Stone/Collins both before and after the transfer of Mr. Stone’s interest.  Moreover, Mr. Collins never sought any advice in connection with the sale of his stock interest.  This stock sale was different from the first stock sale because while Mr. Stone only held a minority voting interest, Mr. Collins held de jure control of Stone/Collins by virtue of his control of 59% of the votes.  Thus, any advice Mr. Collins received that the first stock sale did not require approval could not be reasonably viewed as applying to the second stock sale.  Accordingly, we do not view the parties’ actions in connection with the second stock sale (from Mr. Collins to Mr. Rodgers) as the type of reasonable reliance on staff advice that would make a forfeiture inappropriate.

7. Section 503(b) of the Communications Act, 47 U.S.C. § 503(b), and Section 1.80(a) of the Commission’s rules, 47 C.F.R. § 1.80(a), each state that any person who willfully or repeatedly fails to comply with the provisions of the Communications Act or the Commission’s rules shall be liable for a forfeiture penalty.  For purposes of Section 503(b) of the Communications Act, the term “willful” means that the violator knew it was taking the action in question, irrespective of any intent to violate the Commission’s rules.  See Southern California Broadcasting Co., 6 FCC Rcd 4387 (1991). Furthermore, a continuing violation is “repeated” if it lasts more than one day.  Id., 6 FCC Rcd at 4388.

8. The Commission’s Forfeiture Policy Statement sets a base forfeiture amount of $8,000 for an unauthorized substantial transfer of control.  The Commission’s Forfeiture Policy Statement and Amendment of Section 1.80 of the Commission’s Rules, 12 FCC Rcd 17087, 17113 (1997), recon. denied 15 FCC Rcd 303 (1999).  In this case, we consider Stone/Collins’ voluntary disclosure of its violation and the nature of the station to be mitigating factors.  Considering the record as a whole, we believe that a $3,000 forfeiture is appropriate.

IV. Ordering clauses

9. ACCORDINGLY, IT IS ORDERED pursuant to Section 503(b) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, 47 U.S.C. § 503(b), and Sections 0.111, 0.311 and 1.80 of the Commission’s rules, 47 C.F.R. §§ 0.111, 0.311 and 1.80, that Stone/Collins Communications, Inc. is hereby NOTIFIED of its APPARENT LIABILITY FOR FORFEITURE in the amount of three thousand dollars ($3,000) for willfully and repeatedly violating Section 310(d) of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended (“Act”), 47 U.S.C. § 310(d), and Section 73.3540(a) of the Commission's rules, 47 C.F.R. § 73.3540(a).

10. IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, pursuant to Section 1.80 of the Commission’s rules, that within thirty days of the release of this Notice, Stone/Collins SHALL PAY to the United States the full amount of the proposed forfeiture or SHALL FILE a written statement seeking reduction or cancellation of the proposed forfeiture.

11.  Payment of the forfeiture may be made by credit card through the Commission's Credit and Debt Management Center at (202) 418-1995 or by mailing a check or similar instrument, payable to the order of the Federal Communications Commission, to the Forfeiture Collection Section, Finance Branch, Federal Communications Commission, P.O. Box 73482, Chicago, Illinois 60673-7482.  The payment should note the NAL/Acct. No. referenced above.

12.  The Commission will not consider reducing or canceling a forfeiture in response to a claim of inability to pay unless the petitioner submits: (1) federal tax returns for the most recent three-year period; (2) financial statements prepared according to generally accepted accounting practices (“GAAP”); or (3) some other reliable and objective documentation that accurately reflects the petitioner’s current financial status.  Any claim of inability to pay must specifically identify the basis for the claim by reference to the financial documentation submitted.

13.  Requests for payment of the full amount of this Notice of Apparent Liability under an installment plan should be sent to: Chief, Credit and Debt Management Center, 445 12th Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20554.  See 47 C.F.R. § 1.1914.
14.  The response, if any, must be mailed to Charles W. Kelley, Chief, Investigations and Hearings Division, Enforcement Bureau, Federal Communications Commission, 445 12th Street, S.W, Room 3-B443, Washington DC 20554 and MUST INCLUDE the file number listed above.

15.  IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that a copy of this Notice shall be sent, by Certified Mail/Return Receipt Requested, to Stone/Collins’ counsel, Dorann Bunkin, Esq., Wiley, Rein & Fielding, 1776 K Street, N.W., Washington, DC 20006.
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